**Court of Appeals No. 42603-0-II**

**COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO**

---

**STATE OF WASHINGTON**

**Plaintiff/Respondent,**

**v.**

**MARSELE KENITH HENDERSON,**

**Defendant/Appellant.**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County,  
Cause No. 08-1-05882-6  
The Honorable John A. McCarthy, Presiding Judge**

---

**Sheri Arnold, WSBA No. 18760  
Attorney for Appellant  
P.O. Box 7718  
Tacoma, Washington 98417  
(253) 683-1124**

**

**I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Mr. Henderson's right to a fair trial was violated by the erroneous admission of gang-related evidence.
2. The trial court erred in allowing gang evidence to be introduced.
3. The trial court erred in admitting the gang evidence without conducting the requisite on-the-record 404(b) analysis.
4. The trial court erred in overruling Mr. Henderson's objection to the State cross-examining Mr. Henderson about gang evidence where gang evidence was not discussed during direct examination.

**II. ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the trial court err in permitting the introduction of gang-related evidence where such evidence was irrelevant yet highly prejudicial? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, and 3)
2. Did the trial court err in failing to conduct the requisite 404(b) analysis on the record prior to admitting the gang-related evidence for purposes of establishing Mr. Henderson's motive? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, and 3)
3. Did the trial court err in permitting the State to cross-examine Mr. Henderson about gang-related issues where gang-related issues were not the subject of the direct examination of Mr. Henderson? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 4)
4. Did the admission of the gang-related evidence violate Mr. Henderson's right to a fair trial? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4)

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### *Factual and Procedural background.*

On November 16, 2008, Mr. Philip Johnson was shot at a party at a Boys' and Girls' Club and died of his wounds that night. RP 1148, 1157. Mr. Johnson was a close friend of Mr. Marsele Henderson. RP 1146. Upon learning that Mr. Johnson had been shot, Mr. Henderson and several other individuals, including Mr. D'Orman McClarron, went to the Boys' and Girls' Club where Mr. Johnson had been shot and then to the hospital where Mr. Johnson had been taken. RP 1148-1149, 1151,1152. When Mr. Henderson left his house, he was carrying a .45 caliber pistol that belonged to Mr. Johnson. RP 1151. At the hospital, Mr. Henderson's understanding was that Mr. Johnson was going to recover. RP 1153. From the hospital, Mr. Henderson and Mr. McClarron went to a party at 5620 South Yakima. RP 1154.

Later that same evening, Victor Schwenke was shot and killed while working as a security guard at the party Mr. Henderson and Mr. McClarron went to after leaving the hospital. RP 123-124, 133, 181-185, 544. When police arrived at the scene, witnesses told police that the person who had shot Mr. Schwenke had left the scene in a vehicle. RP 136. Police recovered 18 shell casings from the scene of the shooting at the Yakima address, but all the shell casings were 9mm, a caliber of bullet

that cannot be fired from a .45 caliber gun. RP 139, 406-408, 514, 613-627, 686, 689-690. The casings had been fired from two different guns. RP 686.

Police also saw damage from bullets to the exterior of the home located at 5620 South Yakima as well as bullet holes in several vehicles parked in the street. RP 272, 283, 290.

Police ultimately arrested Mr. Marsele Henderson for shooting Mr. Schwenke. RP 534-536.

On December 12, 2008, the State charged Mr. Henderson with committing two crimes: (1) murder in the first degree under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life while Mr. Henderson or an accomplice was armed with a firearm and with the aggravating factor that the murder was committed to obtain, maintain, or advance his position in a gang; and (2) unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-2.

On June 20, 2011, Mr. Henderson moved to exclude any evidence that Mr. Henderson is or was a member of a gang without the State first making an offer of proof and the court ruling on the admissibility of such evidence. CP 31-32. Mr. Henderson also moved to exclude evidence as to any prior crimes, wrongs, or acts of Mr. Henderson pursuant to ER 404(b) unless there was a prior hearing and court order admitting such evidence. CP 31-32. Also on June 20, 2011, Mr. Henderson waived his

right to a jury trial on the unlawful possession of a firearm count. CP 33-34.

On June 20, 2011, a hearing was held to address the motions in limine filed by the parties. RP 11-42. The State objected to Mr. Henderson's motions regarding 404(b) evidence and gang evidence. RP 22. The State argued that gang related evidence was required in this case because the State's theory was that the shooting of Mr. Schwenke was done in retaliation for the shooting of Mr. Johnson. RP 22. The State's theory was that Mr. Johnson was a Hilltop Crip, that Mr. Henderson was a Hilltop Crip, and that the defendant and other Hilltop Crips went out looking for members of the 96<sup>th</sup> Street Murderville Folk gang members and that members of the 96<sup>th</sup> Street Murderville Folks gang had been at the party on Yakima prior to Mr. Henderson's arrival there. RP 22-23. The State argued that gang evidence was required because the State intended to introduce evidence of a third shooting which occurred after the shooting of Mr. Schwenke, evidence that the same gun was used in the third shooting and the shooting of Mr. Schwenke, and evidence that Mr. Henderson's cell phone was in the area of the third shooting and Mr. Schwenke's shooting. RP 23-24. The State argued that gang evidence was admissible as evidence of motive since the State intended to introduce

evidence that immediately prior to the shooting somebody made a statement to the effect of, "This is Crip" or "What's up, cuz?" RP 24-25.

Mr. Henderson objected to the admission of evidence of the third shooting on the grounds that it was not relevant to any issue before the jury, more prejudicial than probative, and did not meet any of the ER 404(b) exception to admissibility of other prior bad acts. RP 25-26. Mr. Henderson also requested that the State make an offer of proof as to what gang evidence it would seek to introduce at trial and how it intended to offer such evidence. RP 26.

The trial court ruled that evidence regarding the third shooting would not be admissible until the State provided the court more information about the shooting. RP 26. With regard to the gang evidence in general, the trial court indicated that it wished to review recent appellate decisions about the admissibility of gang evidence before making a ruling, but that it intended to inform the jury that one of the charges had a gang aggravator. RP 27-28. In response, the State indicated that it did not intend on calling a gang expert and moved to dismiss the gang aggravator from the murder charge. RP 28-29.

On June 20, 2011, a 3.5 hearing was held to determine the admissibility of Mr. Henderson's statements to police on December 11,

2008. RP 42-62. The trial court held that the statements were admissible. RP 62.

On June 21, 2011, the State argued to the court that evidence of the third shooting was admissible to prove the identity of the person who killed Mr. Schwenke. RP 67. Mr. Henderson objected to the evidence on grounds that the State could not meet its burden under ER 404(b) of establishing that Mr. Henderson was the person who did the shooting at the third shooting. RP 70. Mr. Henderson argued that the State was attempting to use the third shooting as propensity evidence that Mr. Henderson had shot Mr. Schwenke. RP 71-72. Mr. Henderson also objected to the evidence of the third shooting on the basis that it was more prejudicial to Mr. Henderson than it was probative of any issue before the jury. RP 72. The trial court agreed with Mr. Henderson and excluded evidence of the third shooting. RP 76.

Mr. Henderson's trial began on June 21, 2011. RP 87.

At trial, witnesses gave varying descriptions and identifications of the person who shot Mr. Schwenke. Joshua Adams was a resident of 5620 South Yakima and one of the individuals who organized the party there on November 16, 2008. RP 181-185. Mr. Adams testified that Mr. Henderson and another man had tried to gain entry to the party but had been denied entry because of what they were wearing. RP 221-222. Mr.

Adams described the man who was with Mr. Henderson as a tall, skinny, light-skinned male. RP 222. Mr. Adams said the light-skinned male was wearing a white beanie and a white hoodie. RP 229. Mr. Adams said Mr. Henderson was shorter, darker, chubbier, and wearing a blue shirt. RP 301-302, 305-307. Mr. Adams identified the tall light-skinned male as the one who shot Mr. Schwenke. RP 306, 312.

Jose Martinez also lived at 5620 South Yakima and saw Mr. Henderson and the tall light-skinned male outside the party. RP 322-324, 329-330. Mr. Martinez also described Mr. Henderson as having been wearing a blue shirt on the night of the shooting. RP 333-334. Mr. Martinez testified that he told Mr. Henderson that Mr. Henderson could not enter the party without paying the entry fee and Mr. Henderson responded by pulling a gun from his waist and saying, "I have my entry fee." RP 333. After the shooting, Mr. Martinez told the police that the gun he saw in Mr. Henderson's possession appeared to be a .45. RP 382-383, 392-393.

Mr. Martinez saw the last two shots that were fired and identified the shooter as the tall light-skinned man who was with Mr. Henderson, not Mr. Henderson. RP 351-352. In fact, Mr. Martinez identified the light skinned man as an individual who was sitting in the back of the courtroom on the day of trial, and was explicit that Mr. Henderson was not the light-

skinned person he had seen shooting. RP 330-332, 351-352. However, upon redirect examination, Mr. Martinez recanted his trial testimony and agreed with the State that he had told police that the shooter was the shorter dark-skinned man and that what he had told police was correct. RP 390-391.

Cassandra Modeste was at the party when the shooting occurred. RP 426-427. Ms. Modeste testified that immediately after the shooting a tall light-skinned man she had gone to high school with ran past her and jumped over a fence. RP 437-438. Ms. Modeste identified the light-skinned man as Mr. D'Orman McClarron and testified that Mr. McClarron was with a shorter dark-skinned man. RP 445-446. Ms. Modeste testified that she didn't see a gun in Mr. McClarron's hands, but she also testified that she didn't see the shooting and didn't see the shorter dark-skinned man who had been with Mr. McClarron in the courtroom. RP 458, 466-467.

Reynold Taii was working security at the party at the Yakima house. RP 730. Mr. Taii saw the two men who were involved in the shooting of Mr. Schwenke. RP 749-750. Mr. Taii described one of the men involved as a tall light-skinned man who he recognized as Mr. McClarron. RP 749-750. Mr. Taii described the other man he saw as a dark-skinned skinny fellow who matched the description of Mr.

Henderson but who Mr. Taii could not positively identify as Mr. Henderson. RP 751-752. Mr. Taii testified that he saw a “dark body” but that he did not see Mr. Henderson. RP 752.

Jamilah Adjepong was also present at the party at the time Mr. Schwenke was shot. RP 846. Ms. Adjepong testified that she saw Mr. McClarron with Mr. Henderson and saw Mr. Henderson shooting at the house, but she also testified that she had been drinking and taking drugs that night and really didn’t remember what the shooter looked like. RP 855-857, 872, 875-876.

Mr. McClarron testified that he was present with Mr. Henderson at the party, but that Mr. Henderson was the one who shot Mr. Schwenke. RP 928-938. Mr. McClarron testified that he was testifying pursuant to an agreement with the State and that if he didn’t testify at Mr. Henderson’s trial then the State would charge him with first-degree murder. RP 954.

Nakeshia Brooks was at the party, saw Mr. Henderson at the party, and saw a person in the street shooting, but could only describe the shooter as a “black African-American.” RP 101-1011, 1013-1014, 1019.

During the testimony of Mr. McClarron, Mr. Henderson objected to the State asking Mr. McClarron whether or not his agreement with the State was an agreement that he would testify truthfully or be charged with

the murder of Mr. Schwenke. RP 927. An off-the-record sidebar was held and the trial court ultimately overruled the objection. RP 927-928.

Kerry Edwards testified that he was at the party at the house on Yakima when he received a phone call informing him that Mr. Johnson had been shot. RP 549. Mr. Edwards testified that he drove to the Boys' and Girls' Club where Mr. Johnson was shot and then drove to the hospital where Mr. Johnson had been taken. RP 549. Mr. Edwards testified that he saw Mr. Henderson and Mr. McClarron at the hospital. RP 550-553. Mr. Edwards testified that he and Mr. Henderson learned Mr. Johnson had died while they in the hospital waiting room and that Mr. Henderson was shocked, upset, and appeared mad. RP 556. Mr. Edwards testified that Mr. Henderson said, "You guys are just going to sit here and do nothing" and then left with Mr. McClarron and Mr. Lewis Davis in a maroon Toyota Camry. RP 557-558.

Mr. Edwards testified that he left the hospital and drove around while talking on the phone with Mr. Henderson. RP 563. Mr. Edwards testified that Mr. Henderson told him that he had shot into a crowd and somebody's body dropped and then told Mr. Edwards to go to William Terry's house. RP 561, 564-565. Mr. Edwards testified that when Mr. Henderson arrived at Mr. Terry's house, Mr. Henderson was hyper and telling people he "laid him down" meaning he made someone die. RP

566-568. Mr. Edwards testified that Mr. Andre Parker was present at Mr. Terry's house and that Mr. Parker told Mr. Henderson to calm down and stop telling people his business because that is how people go to jail. RP 566-570.

The State later stipulated that Mr. Parker had been in jail on the date Mr. Edwards testified Mr. Parker had been at Mr. Terry's house. RP 1136. The State also stipulated that the maroon Toyota Camry that was owned by Mr. Henderson's mother had been destroyed prior to the date Mr. Edwards testified he saw Mr. Henderson leave the hospital in a maroon Toyota Camry. RP 1136.

Mr. Edwards testified pursuant to an agreement with the State. RP 574. Mr. Edwards had been charged with 28 felonies, but pursuant to his plea deal with the State, Mr. Edwards pled guilty to 14 felonies and 14 conspiracies in the summer of 2010 and was released from custody on May 14, 2011. RP 577-586. On cross-examination, it was revealed that Mr. Edwards had written a letter to an individual telling the individual that if the individual did not pay Mr. Edwards money then Mr. Edwards would testify against him. RP 586-588.

At the close of the State's case, Mr. Henderson renewed and "elaborated" on the objection he had made to the State questioning Mr. McClarron about the agreement that he testify truthfully. RP 1039-1040.

Mr. Henderson argued that his objection was that the prosecutor's question to Mr. McClarron constituted improper vouching for Mr. McClarron's credibility and moved for a mistrial. RP 1039-1040. The trial court preliminarily denied the motion for mistrial, but gave Mr. Henderson the opportunity to submit briefing in support of his motion. RP 1048.

Mr. Henderson testified on his own behalf and denied telling Mr. Edwards he had shot someone, denied going to Mr. Terry's house, and testified that it was Mr. McClarron who had shot Mr. Schwenke. RP 1158-1159, 1161-1162.

During cross-examination of Mr. Henderson, counsel for Mr. Henderson objected to the State cross-examining Mr. Henderson about gang-related issues when Mr. Henderson had not been examined regarding gang-related issues on direct examination. RP 1166. The trial court overruled the objection because it was cross-examination. RP 1166.

Mr. Henderson objected to the State's proposed jury instruction on accomplice liability, arguing that it is legally impossible for someone to be an accomplice to a murder committed by extreme indifference to human life. RP 1049-1051. The trial court initially reserved ruling on the objection (RP 1061-1062), but the State ultimately withdrew the proposed accomplice liability instructions. RP 1189-1190.

Mr. Henderson also objected to the trial court not giving Mr. Henderson's proposed instructions on the lesser included offenses of first and second degree manslaughter. RP 1191. The trial court held that the lesser included instructions were not appropriate in this case because they failed the *Workman* test. RP 1191.

On July 8, 2011, the jury found Mr. Henderson guilty of first-degree murder. CP 135. The jury also found that Mr. Henderson was armed with a firearm at the time of the murder. CP 136.

On July 12, 2011, the trial court found Mr. Henderson guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm. RP 1291. On August 19, 2011, the trial court entered an order finding Mr. Henderson guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 142-146.

Mr. Henderson received a sentence of 608 months confinement. CP 147-159.

Notice of appeal was filed on September 16, 2011. CP 163-175.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

**Mr. Henderson's right to a fair trial was violated by the erroneous introduction of irrelevant yet highly prejudicial gang related evidence.**

Both the United States Constitution and the Washington State Constitution article I, section 22, guarantee the criminal defendant a fair

trial by an impartial jury. *State v. Latham*, 100 Wn.2d 59, 62-63, 667 P.2d 56 (1983).

“A trial in which irrelevant and inflammatory matter is introduced, which has a natural tendency to prejudice the jury against the accused, is not a fair trial.” *State v. Miles*, 73 Wn.2d 67, 70, 436 P.2d 198 (1968).

Where a defendant is denied the right to a fair trial, the proper remedy is reversal of the conviction and remand for a new trial. *State v. McDonald*, 96 Wn.App. 311, 979 P.2d 857 (1999), *affirmed* 143 Wn.2d 506, 22 P.3d 791 (2001).

Pretrial, counsel for Mr. Henderson moved to exclude gang evidence and indicated that he would make more specific objections to the evidence once the State had made an offer of proof. CP 31-32; RP 22-26. The State responded by indicating that it was not going to call a gang expert, dropping the gang motivation aggravating factor, and indicating that the gang evidence would be introduced by lay witnesses and would be introduced to establish Mr. Henderson’s motive. RP 28-30. The court granted the State’s motion to dismiss the aggravating factor and counsel for Mr. Henderson reminded the court that the issue of gang evidence in general had not been fully dealt with. RP 29-30. The following day, after extensive argument on the admissibility of the third shooting and the court ruling that evidence of the third shooting was inadmissible, the State

reminded the court that it had not fully addressed the admissibility of the general gang evidence. RP 77. The State told the court that it assumed that “the stuff that I have offered...is in?” and the court responded, “Right.” RP 77.

*A. The trial court erred in admitting gang evidence without first conducting the requisite on-the-record analysis under ER 404(b) or requiring the State to make an offer of proof.*

Before admitting ER 404(b) evidence, a trial court “must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect.

*State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).

A trial court is not required to hold an evidentiary hearing and make a formal finding that the State has established that the misconduct has occurred by a preponderance of the evidence where the State makes an offer of proof sufficient to allow the trial court to make such a finding.

*State v. Mee*, ---Wn.App.---, --- P.3d ----, WL 1604808, \*5 (2012), *citing State v. Kilgore*, 147 Wn.2d 288, 294-295, 53 P.3d 974 (2002).

Here, the State never made an offer of proof regarding the general gang evidence it sought to introduce in this case. The trial court never made a finding that the State had established the existence of any generalized gang evidence by a preponderance. The State did imply that it

sought to introduce the generalized gang evidence as evidence of motive (RP 22-25), but the trial court never weighed the probative value of this unspecified generalized gang evidence against the prejudicial effect such evidence might have.

Even under the relaxed requirements of *Mee* and *Kilgore*, the State did not present the court with sufficient evidence to support the trial court's apparent ruling that "the stuff" the State had had offered was "in." The trial court erred in failing to perform even a rudimentary version of the protocol for admitting evidence under ER 404(b) as evidence of motive.

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