A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'SASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR.

1. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion when it

admitted evidence of defendant's gang affiliation where such

evidence was relevant to show motive and was not unduly

prejudicial?

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

C. ARGUMENT.

I THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS

DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF

DEFENDANT'SGANG AFFILIATIONS WHERE THE

EVIDENCE WAS RELEVANT TO SHOW MOTIVE

AND WAS NOT UNDULY PREJUDICIAL.

A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of

discretion. State v. Morales, 154 Wn. App. 26, 37, 225 P.3d 31 affirmed

in part, reversed in part, 173 Wn.2d 560 (2012). A trial court's ER 404(b)

ruling will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion such that

no reasonable trial judge would have ruled as the trial court did. State v.

Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 81, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009). A trial court

abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or

exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. Lord,

161 Wn.2d 276, 283-84, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007). A trial court abuses its

discretion when it relies on unsupported facts, takes a view that no

reasonable person would take, applies the wrong legal standard, or bases

its ruling on an erroneous view of the law. Lord, 161 Wn.2d at 284.
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Like membership in a church, social club, or community

organization, affiliation with a gang is protected by our First Amendment

right of association. State v. Scott, 151 Wn, App. 520, 526, 213 P.3d 71

2009) (citing Dawson v. Delaware, 503 U.S. 159, 112 S. Ct. 1093, 117 L.

Ed. 2d 309 (1992). Therefore, evidence of criminal street gang affiliation

is not admissible in a criminal trial when it merely reflects a person's

beliefs or associations. Scott, 151 Wn. App. at 526. There must be a

connection between the crime and the organization before the evidence

becomes relevant. Scott, 151 Wn. App. at 526.

Washington courts likewise have recognized the need for this

connection before admitting evidence of gang membership. State v.

Johnson, 124 Wn.2d 57, 67, 873 P.2d 514 (1994). Accordingly, to admit

gang affiliation evidence there must be a nexus between the crime and

gang membership. State v. Campbell, 78 Wn. App. 813, 822, 901 P.2d

1050, review denied, 128 Wn.2d 1004, 907 P.2d 296 (1995). Washington

courts have repeatedly held that gang affiliation evidence is admissible as

proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge,

identity, or absence of mistake or accident. See State v. Yarbrough, 151

Wn. App. 66, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009); State v. Boot, 89 Wn. App. 780, 950

P.2d 964 (1998); State v. Campbell, 78 Wn. App. 813, 901 P.2d 1050

1995).
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Evidence of gang affiliation is considered prejudicial. State v.

Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. 543, 208 P.3d 1136,1155-1156 (2009). Admission

of such evidence is measured under the standards of ER 404(b). State v.

Boot, 89 Wn. App. 780, 788 -790, 950 P.2d 964, review denied, 135

Wn.2d 1015, 960 P.2d 939 (1998); Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66. "ER

404(b) is not designed 'to deprive the State of relevant evidence necessary

to establish an essential element of its case,' but rather to prevent the State

from suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is a criminal-

type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged." State v.

Mee, 168 Wn. App. 144, 154, 275 P.3d 1192, (2012) (citing State v.

Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168,175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007); State v. Lough,

125 Wn.2d 847, 859, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)).

Evidence of other bad acts can be admitted under ER 404(b) when

a trial court identifies a significant reason for admitting the evidence and

determines that the relevance of the evidence outweighs any prejudicial

impact. State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 831, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). The

balancing of these interests must be conducted on the record. Lane, 125

Wn.2d at 832. The decision to admit or deny admission of ER 404(b)

evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 831.

Discretion is abused when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for
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untenable reasons. State ex rel. Carroll v. Dunker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482

P.2d 775 (1971).

Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the

action more probable or less probable than it would be without the

evidence." ER 401. Relevant evidence is admissible; irrelevant evidence

is not admissible. ER 402. Relevant evidence may be excluded if its

probative value is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. ER

403. Evidence of prior bad acts is not admissible to show that the person

acted in conformity on a particular occasion, but is admissible for other

purposes such as "motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan,

knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b).

In Mee, this Court reiterated its holding that evidence of gang

affiliation is admissible to show motive from Yarbrough. 168 Wn. App.

at 156-57. Yet the Mee court held that, under the facts of the case, the

admission of Mee's gang affiliations because the danger of unfair

prejudice substantially outweighed its probative value. 168 Wn. App. at

157. The facts of the case involved generalized evidence regarding the

behavior of gangs and gang members, and testimony that gang members

were expected to assist other gang members in a fight or risk losing

respect. Mee, 168 Wn. App. at 158-59. The court found that the
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testimony was irrelevant to prove that Mee killed the victim by extreme

indifference when he fired a gun into an occupied house. Mee, 168 Wn.

App. at 159. The court held that, absent evidence showing adherence by

the defendant or the defendant's alleged gang to those behaviors and that

the evidence was not relevant to prove the elements of the charged crime,

the admission of gang affiliation evidence served no purpose but to allow

the State to suggest that Mee's gang membership showed his propensity to

commit the charged crime. Mee, 168 Wn. App. at 159. Nonetheless, the

court ultimately found the error harmless and affirmed Mee's conviction

for first degree murder by extreme indifference. Mee, 168 Wn. App. at

ffIno

Here, the court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted

evidence of the defendants' gang affiliations because defendant's

membership in the Hilltop Crips was relevant to show motive. To convict

defendant of first degree murder by extreme indifference, the State had to

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 1) defendant acted with extreme

indifference, an aggravated form of recklessness; 2) he created a grave risk

of death to others; and 3) his actions caused the death of a person. See CP

120-134 (Jury Instruction 6); see also, RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b); Yarbrough,

151 Wn. App. at 82-83.
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Defendant had warned his friend and fellow Hilltop Crip member

against going to a party located within the territory of the 96 Street

Murderville gang. RP 1166-67. Later that evening, defendant discovered

that Mr. Johnson had been shot while at that party and he was so

concerned with his own safety that he had to bring a gun with him to the

location. RP 1 1167. Witnesses at the hospital where Mr. Johnson

was taken heard defendant express his frustration with his fellow gang

members because no one was offering to retaliate. RP 556-57. Defendant

then went to a party where he suspected 96 Street Murderville members

to be present. RP 855. When defendant fired into the crowd, he yelled

gang-related phrases. RP 233, 237-38, 753, 1024. Defendant's action,

mere hours after the shooting death of a fellow HTC, was clearly

retaliatory and would not have occurred but for defendant's membership

in the Hilltop Crips. Evidence of defendant's gang affiliation had a nexus

to the crime and it supported the State's theory by showing that the crime

was gang-motivated retaliation.

Unlike the facts in Mee, there was no generalized testimony about

the behavior of gangs and the State made no suggestion to the jury that

defendant was guilty merely because, as a gang member, defendant had

the propensity to commit murder. Nor was the evidence offered to show
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the reason for an escalation of violence as was the case in Scott. Rather,

the evidence was used to show that defendant responded in-kind to the

shooting death of his fellow gang member.

a. The record is sufficient to show that the trial

court conducted a 404(b) analysis when it
found that defendant was a member of a

gang and that the evidence of defendant's

gang affiliations were more probative than
prejudicial and were relevant to show
motive.

ER 404(b) prohibits a court from admitting "[e]vidence of other

crimes, wrongs, or acts ... to prove the character of a person in order to

show action in conformity therewith." This prohibition encompasses not

only prior bad acts and unpopular behavior but any evidence offered to

show the character of a person to prove the person acted in conformity"

with that character at the time of a crime. State v. Everybodytalksabout,

145 Wn.2d 456, 466, 39 P.3d 294 (2002). Before a court admits evidence

under an exception to ER 404(b) it must:

1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
misconduct occurred,

2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is
sought to be introduced,

3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove
an element of the crime charged, and

4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial
effect.
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Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. at 81-82. The trial court must conduct this

analysis on the record. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d

786 (2007). However, if the record shows that the assigned trial court

adopted one party's express argument as to the weighing of probative and

prejudicial value, then there is no error. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628,

650-51, 904 P.2d 245 (1995).

Moreover, such error is harmless when (1) there is a sufficient

record to determine that, had the court explicitly balanced prejudice and

probative value, it still would have admitted the evidence or (2) the trial's

result would have been the same without the challenged evidence. State v.

Carelton, 82 Wn. App. 680, 686-87, 919 P.2d 128 (1996).

Here, the court's 404(b) analysis is implicit in its ruling. The State

sought to introduce two pieces of evidence: the fact of defendant's

membership in the Hilltop Crips, and evidence that defendant was

involved in a second shooting which occurred seven days after the events

which led to the current charge. RP 23-24; 67. The State argued that

defendant's gang affiliation was necessary to show motive and the second

shooting was necessary to show identity. RP 24, 67. Prior to ruling on the

evidence, the parties held a CrR 3.5 hearing to determine if defendant's

statements to law enforcement were admissible at trial. RP 43. During

the interview, defendant admitted that he was a Hilltop Crip. RP 62. The

court acknowledged that he saw that admission. RP 62. Defendant's
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admission was proof by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant

was a member of a gang.

Defendant argued that evidence of the later shooting was

inadmissible under ER 404(b). RP 70. Defendant noted that there was no

witness to identify him at that shooting, implying that there was not proof

by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred. RP 70.

Defendant also argued that evidence of the second shooting was more

prejudicial than probative. RP 71-73. The court asked the State to

respond to the issues it saw with admitting evidence of the second

shooting. RP 73. The court rejected the State's argument and agreed with

defendant that the second shooting was inadmissible under ER 404(b). RP

76. Clearly the court found that the State had not presented sufficient

evidence to prove defendant had committed the misconduct and it was

more prejudicial than probative. When the State asked the court about the

evidence of defendant's gang affiliation, the court responded, "well, based

on what you said[.]" RP 77. The court's statement shows that it was

adopting the State's argument.

The court clearly balanced the probative value of the evidence

offered by the State against its prejudicial effect. The court expressly

found that some of the evidence was unduly prejudicial, inferring that the

remaining evidence was not. While the court did not specifically conduct

the analysis of whether defendant's gang membership was admissible
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under ER 404(b) on the record, the necessary balancing is inherent in the

court's ruling.

Moreover, even if the court did err by not conducting the analysis

on the record, such error was harmless. The record was sufficient to

determine that, had the court explicitly balanced prejudice and probative

value, it still would have admitted the evidence.

The evidence that the court ruled admissible was relevant to show

motive for defendant to go to a party and open fire into a crowd.

Defendant was retaliating for the shooting death of a fellow gang member.

He also made gang-affiliation statements contemporaneously with the

shooting. Nearly every person who testified at trial, outside of law

enforcement, was either a member of, or spent significant time with,

criminal street gangs. See RP 210, 447, 547-48, 923-24, 1024, The State

did not offer any expert testimony relating to "generalized gang behavior,"

but presented only witnesses who knew defendant personally. While

those witnesses testified that defendant was a member of Hilltop Crips,

none of them suggested that defendant merely acted in conformity with

gang behavior. The fact that defendant was a member of a gang as well

was not unduly prejudicial given the testimony in the case. It is clear that

the court would have admitted the evidence if it had performed the

balancing test on the record.
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b. The trial court did not abuse its discretion

when it allowed the State to explore
defendant's gang affiliation on cross-
examination.

Cross-examination is generally limited to the scope of the direct

examination. State v. Hobbs, 13 Wn. App. 866, 868, 538 P.2d 838 (1975).

But a trial court has great discretion in setting the scope of cross-

examination. Hobbs, 13 Wn, App. at 868.

Here, the State did not exceed the scope of direct examination. On

direct examination, defendant described his activities on the night of the

shooting, stating that he was spending time with "Sleeze" and D'Orman,

but denied spending time with other Hilltop Crips. RP 1147, 1162.

Defendant testified that he and Mr. Johnson were "real close friends." RP

1146. He stated that Mr. Johnson had gone to a party, which defendant

did not attend. RP 1148. Defendant denied trying to get the people

visiting Mr. Johnson at the hospital to retaliate. RP 1153. He also

admitted that he went to the location ofMr. Johnson's shooting and to the

Yakima Street party with Mr. Johnson's gun in the waistband of his

trousers. RP 1151, 1155. Finally, defendant claimed that he could not

believe that D'Orman was actually shooting and did not understand why.

RP 1158-59.

On cross-examination and without objection, defendant testified

that he was a member of Hilltop Crips. RP 1163. The prosecutor asked
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defendant if, as a member of the gang, he knew about issues related to the

gang. RP 1166. Defendant objected as beyond the scope. RP 1166. The

court overruled the objection. RP 1166. The prosecutor then clarified that

defendant had actually advised Mr. Johnson not to attend the party, as it

was too close to the 96' Street Murderville gang's territory. RP 1166-67.

The prosecutor asked if defendant felt the need to keep Mr. Johnson's gun

for protection, when he was not attending the same party. RP 1167-68.

The prosecutor asked if defendant suspected 96' Street Murderville

members of shooting Mr. Johnson, which defendant denied. RP 1168-69

The prosecutor also clarifies that Mr. Johnson and the people defendant

was spending time with that evening were fellow Hilltop Crip members.

RP 1169. Defendant testified that he went to the Yakima Street party

because it was "no big deal" that Mr. Johnson had been shot. RP 1170.

Defendant objected to the prosecutor asking "That's the way gang

members act when their homie gets shot?" RP 1170. The court overruled

the objection and defendant responded affirmatively. RP 1170.

The questions asked of defendant did not clearly exceed the scope

of direct examination. They clarified how and why defendant had Mr.

Johnson's gun when he was not attending the same party as Mr. Johnson,

why he did not go to the party with Mr. Johnson, his knowledge as to the

circumstances surrounding Mr. Johnson's shooting, and why he attended

the Yakima Street party with a gun. The further testimony regarding

defendant's knowledge of whether the 96 Street Murderville gang had
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been involved impeached his direct testimony that, despite hearing that

one of his closest friends had been shot, defendant went to the house on

56 and Yakima merely to "party."

Defendant was not prejudiced by the
introduction of "generalized gang related
evidence" as no such evidence was

admitted,

Washington courts have determined generalized gang evidence to

be general evidence regarding the behavior of gangs and gang members.

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